

A BETTER LIFE FOR CANCER PATIENTS AND SURVIVORS

Cancer leagues' reflections on comprehensive cancer rehabilitation



January 2023



ECL has received funding under an operating grant (SGA: 101082871) from the EU4Health Programme (2021-2027).

The information and views set out in this paper are those of the authors and do not reflect the official opinion of the European Commission or any other institution of the European Union. The Commission and its Agencies do not accept any responsibility for use that may be made of the information it contains.

ABOUT THE ECL PATIENT SUPPORT WORKING GROUP

Since 2007, the **Patient Support Working Group (PSWG)** of the Association of European Cancer Leagues (ECL) has been bringing together cancer care experts to collaborate on topics such as access to insurance and financial services, return to work, caregiver support, cancer rehabilitation and palliative care. PSWG members share best practices and develop guidelines and other sources of information to help raise awareness, improve quality of care, and strengthen the patients' voice in national and European policy-making.

The PSWG subgroup on Cancer and Rehabilitation was established in 2019 to share knowledge and best practices among cancer leagues in the WHO European region around cancer rehabilitation programmes. The PSWG collected information on the variety of much-needed rehabilitation programmes provided by cancer leagues in their communities and then developed two editions of the **Cancer Rehabilitation Atlas**. The latest edition is an inventory of 61 rehabilitation programmes carried out by ECL members, which provides information about these programmes and their activities that support the physical and psycho-social rehabilitation of patients and caregivers. This publication may also serve to inspire other cancer leagues, healthcare professionals and stakeholders.

Authors

Main author: Bo Andreassen Rix, Danish Cancer Society

Contributing authors: An Lebacq, Foundation Against Cancer Belgium; Lucia Budáčová, League Against Cancer Slovakia; Patricia Martí Augé, Catalan Federation Against Cancer; Sara Bertucci, Association of European Cancer Leagues.

Contributing Cancer Leagues: Catalan Federation Against Cancer; Danish Cancer Society; Foundation Against Cancer Belgium; Irish Cancer Society; League Against Cancer Slovakia; Spanish Association Against Cancer; Portuguese League Against Cancer; Swiss Cancer League.

Coordinators: Sara Bertucci and Flore Rennesson, Association of European Cancer Leagues (ECL)

Editors: Ginevra Papi and Sara Bertucci, Association of European Cancer Leagues (ECL)

Designer: Katie Greybe

Acknowledgements

The following experts (in alphabetical order) have contributed to the review of this paper:

- Ana Fernandez-Marcos
- Frédérique Bernard
- Emanuela Portalupi
- Elma Pressel
- Lisa Loughney
- Lisbeth Høeg-Jensen
- Monick Leal
- Nicolas Sperisen
- Rolf Heine
- Tido von Schoen-Angerer
- Ton Nicolai

CONTENTS

1.		_ 5
	Addressing long-term and late effects after cancer	5
	What is cancer rehabilitation?	6
2.	WHAT MAKES CANCER REHABILITATION COMPREHENSIVE? AN OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	_ 7
	Assessing cancer rehabilitation needs	7
	Elements in a cancer rehabilitation programme	8
	Inequalities in rehabilitation needs and care	9
3.	CASE STUDIES: WHAT CAN BE LEARNED FROM THE EXPERIENCE OF CANCER LEAGUES?	_ 10
	Body & Cancer Programme, The Danish Cancer Society	_ 10
	Kids' rehabilitation programme - Catalan Federation Against Cancer (FECEC)	11
	Activities in Cancer Help Centers - League Against Cancer Slovakia (LPR)	_ 11
	RECONNECT Platform – Foundation Against Cancer Belgium	12
	What did we learn?	12
4.	WHAT SHOULD STAKEHOLDERS DO NEXT?	_ 13
	Recommendations for healthcare managers and professionals	13
	Recommendations for EU policymakers	15
5.	REFERENCES	16



1. INTRODUCTION

The European Commission Joint Research Center (JRC) estimates that about four million new cancer cases were diagnosed in Europe in 2020 and projects the number of new cases per year to increase to 5.2 million by 2040 (1). More optimistically, cancer survival rates are also continually increasing, due to improvements and innovation in screening programmes, treatment, and care (2). Nonetheless, both the disease trajectory and treatment remain associated with significant negative effects, including late and long-term effects. About 40% of cancer survivors suffer from depression or anxiety (3), and many experience fatigue and physical ailments including pain, lymphedema, sexual and cognitive problems (4). That is why it is of paramount importance to provide cancer patients and survivors with rehabilitation services that support their quality of life beyond the acute treatment phase, addressing long-term and late effects, and integrating psychosocial considerations. Well-designed rehabilitation services can greatly contribute to positive health, social and professional outcomes for cancer survivors, while also reducing long-term care needs and overall healthcare costs. Effective cancer rehabilitation is therefore not only beneficial to cancer survivors as individuals, but also to their community and to society at large.

Addressing long-term and late effects after cancer

Besides deteriorating people's physical and mental wellbeing in general, reducing their opportunities for social contact and negatively impacting their quality of life, cancer and cancer treatment can cause side effects that might appear during, immediately after or even years after treatment. These **late and long-term effects may further impair the physical wellbeing of cancer survivors**, negatively impacting their cardiovascular, endocrine, neurocognitive, sexual and reproductive functions among others. These can in turn harm their **psychosocial wellbeing**, often to the detriment of relational and professional satisfaction. Moreover, it is important to consider that, while creating specific needs for all age groups, late and long-term effects especially take a toll on those who experienced cancer as **children**, **adolescents and young adults** (5). Therefore, **European Cancer Leagues reaffirm the central role played by rehabilitation services in tertiary prevention**, **calling for the recognition and inclusion of early diagnosis and treatment of late effects as a key component of the cancer care trajectory**. According to the World Health Organisation (WHO), rehabilitation is "a set of interventions needed when a person is experiencing or is likely to experience limitations in everyday functioning due to ageing or a health condition [...]. Examples of limitations in functioning include difficulties in thinking, seeing, hearing, communicating, moving around, having relationships, or keeping a job. Rehabilitation enables individuals of all ages to maintain or return to their daily life activities, fulfill meaningful life roles and maximize their wellbeing" (6).

Cancer rehabilitation must consider the multidimensionality of cancer survivorship, as cancer has an array of implications that affect the whole person, not just their body, but also their mental health and their social and even spiritual wellbeing. Effective cancer rehabilitation is built upon constructive communication with patients and survivors and requires a set of multidisciplinary team interventions. Rehabilitation activities will most often be a collaborative effort between the patient or survivor and relevant health care professionals, with carers and relatives also playing a role.

Rehabilitation is a rather new but growing field in cancer care, and cancer leagues across Europe play an important role in offering innovative and comprehensive programmes.

2. WHAT MAKES CANCER REHABILITATION COMPREHENSIVE? AN OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Assessing cancer rehabilitation needs

Cancer patients and survivors may experience high levels of distress, including physical distress, psychological hardships and negative experiences in the spiritual, social and emotional spheres. These factors often act together and negatively affect the quality of life of cancer patients (7, 8, 9, 10).

The early and systematic detection of the distress and related needs of cancer patients and survivors is a stepping stone for rehabilitation programmes. The **CanCon Guide** recommends that rehabilitation activities start with a **multidi**mensional needs assessment (5), while the **ESMO** Handbook on Rehabilitation suggests developinga **survivorship care plan** to prepare the patient for the post-treatment phase by addressing rehabilitation needs as well as late effects occurring in the follow-up period (6).

Needs assessments should be offered to all cancer patients and incorporated in routine clinical activity at all healthcare levels. To be most effective, they should start as early as possible in the cancer trajectory, becoming an integral part of diagnosis, treatment, rehabilitation and follow-ups, until the end of life (5, 11). In some cases, a needs assessment conducted at the time of diagnosis could point to prehabilitation needs - namely, result in the identification of services to be offered before treatment, such as physical training, dietary and smoking cessation interventions.

Such assessments should be as comprehensive as possible, covering physical aspects (i.e., functional assessment and symptom burden, pain, gastrointestinal and urological complications, sexual and reproductive issues), social aspects (i.e., relational and occupational issues), and psychological aspects, including emotional and spiritual issues (5, 7). They should be based on regular monitoring carried out through well-designed, validated tools that are brief, rely on good performance parameters (both qualitative and quantitative) and are acceptable for the front-line staff (5, 11). Assessment through Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) should also be included (12). When professional care is necessary after the needs assessment, the interrelation and complexity of needs should be determined to provide appropriate information and/or referral to specific psychosocial, training and rehabilitation services, including specialised and interdisciplinary services (7, 11, 13). Importantly, information should be provided in a clear, timely and appropriate manner with the aims of improving health literacy, empowering patients and survivors and fostering the adoption of effective self-management behaviours (14, 15).

During their rehabilitation programmes, patients and survivors should learn about positive lifestyle changes like improving their diet, quitting the use of tobacco products and getting more physical activity, all of which could contribute to their rehabilitation and improve their health. Getting adequate physical activity is especially beneficial to those undergoing or recovering from treatment. Programmes for physical rehabilitation should be individually tailored, while generally consisting of moderate aerobic training and progressive resistance training, to improve muscle strength and reduce cancer-related fatigue (7, 11, 13). The growing body of evidence on the effects of High-Intensity Training (HIT) approaches should also be considered (16, 17, 18, 19).

Psychosocial support, psychoeducation and different types of psychotherapy should also be provided to address common issues such as fatigue, anxiety, depression, fear of recurrence, and sleep disorders (11, 20, 21).

Literature (22) shows that the use of complementary and alternative methods (CAM) has grown among cancer patients in Europe. Therefore, further attention and research should be devoted to integrative oncology, the evidence-based incorporation of complementary medicine modalities into conventional cancer care (23, 24, 25).

Rehabilitation programmes should be cognisant of the issues cancer patients and survivors often face with regards to returning to work, and systematically include this aspect as a component of rehabilitation services. Occupational physicians and social workers in particular can play a central role in supporting survivors in this area - providing, together with other healthcare professionals, timely interventions geared towards individual needs that can improve medical and functional recovery so as to facilitate the return to work (11, 20, 26).

Attention to sexual and reproductive health should also be paid, including a focus on the broad spectrum of sexuality and intimacy issues that cancer survivors may experience. Gaps in healthcare professionals' training in this realm should be adequately addressed, patients should be encouraged to address this topic, and adequate referral should be provided as needed (27).

Other recommended interventions are related to symptoms and late effects such as **pain**, **cognitive problems** and **lymphedema** and aim at improving the general quality of life for cancer survivors. Some cancers such as **head and neck cancer** will require **specialist rehabilitation programs** focusing on nutritional needs, neuromuscular problem management, speech therapy, lymphedema management and dental care (20). Inequalities are ubiquitous in healthcare, and the field of cancer rehabilitation is no exception. The determinants of inequalities in demanding and accessing cancer rehabilitation services can most often be traced back to systemic barriers rather than individual choices. Similarly, the literature shows inequalities in the ability of rehabilitation programmes to effectively meet the needs of individuals from different social classes and structures. These factors should be considered and addressed when setting up comprehensive programmes for cancer rehabilitation.

Across the European Union (EU), healthcare systems may still face barriers in implementing effective rehabilitation programmes for cancer survivors due to challenges in resources, infrastructure and perceived relevance of rehabilitation as part of the care pathway (28). In addition, the inclusion of rehabilitation in national cancer plans varies and specific guidelines for cancer rehabilitation services are not always available (29). Deterioration of physical, mental and social quality of life in survivorship is strongly connected to precarious living situations, which are often common among underserved, vulnerable individuals with limited financial resources (5). Cancer patients with a low income at the time of diagnosis and treatment tend to participate less frequently in rehabilitation activities, if these are available, and may have more rehabilitation needs - which are often determined by pre-existing, unmet healthcare needs (30).

Gender and age, together with employment and education status of cancer survivors, figure as key factors in determining both the participation in rehabilitation activities and the ability of cancer rehabilitation programmes to meet the needs of patients (30, 31). Overall, studies suggest that participation in rehabilitation programmes tends to be more limited among survivors who have a lower socio-economic and educational status (30), while results on gender and age vary (30, 1). Unmet needs appear to be higher among cancer survivors who live alone, regardless of gender (30), and among older survivors (31).

3. CASE STUDIES: WHAT CAN BE LEARNED FROM THE EXPERIENCE OF CANCER LEAGUES?

Improved cancer care allows patients to transition from in-patient primary care to follow-up care and rehabilitation - which is provided in different settings across the EU, often including out-patient services. In this newly emerging context, **cancer leagues** - as non-profit organisations acting in the best interest of the public to ensure better cancer control and care - **are uniquely positioned to address patients' unmet needs that arise from the gaps witnessed in public health services across Europe** (29).

In 2021, building on the results of a survey carried out in 2019, ECL published the 2nd Rehabilitation Atlas, which provides an overview of 61 rehabilitation programmes carried out by 16 of the 31 cancer leagues represented by ECL (32). The Atlas aims at creating a non-exhaustive inventory of cancer leagues' action in the realm of cancer rehabilitation and related contact points, hoping to guide patients and caregivers and to inspire healthcare professionals active in the field.

Further reflecting upon and providing new insights on the role that cancer leagues play in rehabilitation, this section provides a snapshot of the key characteristics of four rehabilitation programmes offered by cancer leagues in **Denmark, Spain, Slovakia** and **Belgium**. These case studies are presented to illustrate pragmatic approaches that are currently adopted in different European countries to address the complex rehabilitation needs of cancer patients. At the end of the section, key learning points emerging from expert discussions and opinions on the lessons learned from these programmes are summarised.

Body & Cancer Programme - The Danish Cancer Society

Since its establishment in 2001, more than 2000 cancer patients from different diagnostic groups who were undergoing chemotherapy have participated in the Body and Cancer Programme. This rehabilitation programme, carried out by the Danish Cancer Society in collaboration with oncology departments at ten Danish hospitals, offers physical training, including aerobic and resistance training, to cancer patients receiving chemotherapy, supplemented by massages, training on relaxation and body awareness.

Patients attend training in **groups of 12 to 16 participants**, with **four sessions per week over six weeks that are tailored to the needs of individual patients**. To assess these needs as well as patients' progression, participants are tested for strength, fitness and weight during the programme. A randomised study comparing participants to non-participants shows that the programme reduces fatigue and increases physical capacity, energy, and emotional wellbeing (33).

Kids' rehabilitation programme - Catalan Federation Against Cancer (FECEC)

For more than 30 years, the Association of Family and Friends of Oncological Children of Catalonia (AFANOC) has been implementing a rehabilitation programme targeting children, with 900 pediatric oncological patients participating each year. The programme, carried out in partnership with Barcelona's leading hospitals, takes place in the Casa dels Xuklis - a reception house with 25 apartments where children and adolescents undergoing treatment and their families receive free temporary accommodation.

Access to the programme is determined through an **ad-hoc assessment of medical and social needs** that requires collaboration between healthcare staff and social workers. AFANOC works within reference hospitals and has direct contact with all families from the moment of diagnosis, providing them with stable psychosocial support.

The programme includes activities that cover the **psycho-pedagogical and psychomotor needs** of young cancer patients, as well as **socio-educational games and workshops, family meetings, and summer camps**. In addition, social and **emotional monitoring and support** throughout the cancer treatment is provided.

Activities in Cancer Help Centers

- League Against Cancer Slovakia (LPR)

Cancer Help Centers (CHCs) have been established in Bratislava, Košice and Martin in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. The Centers currently offer a safe place where a wide spectrum of **care and supportive services** are provided to cancer patients, their carers and close loved ones, from diagnosis onward, **free of charge**. **Community building is a key driver** for the CHCs, to break taboos and the common belief that cancer equals the end of normal life.

In CHCs, **multidisciplinary teams provide advice and counseling tailored to individual needs through individual consultations, psychological therapy, and group meetings**. These services are available for patients and carers alike, and are provided by psychologists experienced in the field. The CHCs also offer physiotherapy and rehabilitation sessions for patients with trained physiotherapists, with a minimum package of ten sessions per patient.

Group programmes focus on teaching **techniques to reduce anxiety and feelings of help-lessness**, support psychological and physical adjustments following cancer diagnosis, and create a feeling of wellbeing. The Centers also offer yoga classes, Pilates, Nordic walking, artwork, art therapy, language courses, social events, trips, and excursions. The aim is to support patients with making social connections, improving their mental health, building resilience and improving their overall health.

RECONNECT Platform

- Foundation Against Cancer Belgium

RECONNECT is a free online platform developed by the Foundation Against Cancer Belgium to **support employers welcoming back to work employees during or after their cancer treatment**. With over 26000 people of working age diagnosed with cancer every year in Belgium, the Platform facilitates a positive return to work by **providing information on the different steps to successfully reintegrate employees who have been undergoing cancer treatment**. This information is available to users as exercises, videos and testimonials that have been developed based on case studies and on the expertise of the Foundation Against Cancer Belgium. Furthermore, the Platform includes a directory that links users to a network of coaches trained by the Foundation, to offer personalised support to employees, teams or employers.

WHAT DID WE LEARN?

Based on the programmes listed above, expert representatives of the cancer leagues involved in these programmes identified some key learning points to consider for comprehensive cancer rehabilitation:

- Rehabilitation should be **part of the entire patient pathway** and start as early as possible, ideally from the moment of diagnosis or, at the latest, during treatment.
- Cancer rehabilitation is a complex issue, and a **one-size-fit-all approach is not effective**.
- Interventions should be adjusted to the **needs of the individual patient**, therefore, relevant professionals should be empowered to design flexible programmes that can effectively reach and support different target groups.
- Rehabilitation programmes must strive to **be holistic**, taking into account biological, psychological and social considerations that relate to cancer diagnosis, treatment and survivorship. Rehabilitation programmes should therefore adopt a systemic approach and provide:
 - Support to individuals, their carers and families, and other relevant actors in the lives of cancer patients.
 - Services that focus on physical, psychological and social wellbeing and that are adjusted to the different needs arising throughout the whole cancer journey from housing during treatment to return to work.
- When applicable, **progress** during rehabilitation **should be evaluated** with relevant tests and assessments of symptoms, needs and perceived quality of life.
- Rehabilitation programmes benefit from **multidisciplinary**, **one-stop-shop approaches**, with patients and carers able to access a wide array of services in one location where they feel at ease and safe, and where they can build relations of trust with the staff.
- Integration of digital tools can also be beneficial and should be further explored.

4. WHAT SHOULD STAKEHOLDERS DO NEXT?

Although rehabilitation plays a key role in the cancer survivorship journey, **rehabilitative services are not systematically considered as part of the cancer pathway in the EU**. When services exist, these are not always tailored to the complexity of the individual needs of patients and their carers, and can be hard to access - especially for vulnerable, marginalised and underserved groups.

Building on their extensive experience in bringing rehabilitation at the forefront of considerations on cancer survivorship, the ECL Patient Support Working Group's subgroup on Cancer and Rehabilitation formulated a number of recommendations.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HEALTHCARE MANAGERS AND PROFESSIONALS

- 1. Assess patients' needs as early as possible (i.e., cancer diagnosis), in cooperation with healthcare professionals working along the cancer care pathway.
- 2. All patients should complete a needs assessment, which should be carried out at the moment of diagnosis. A plan or support should be devised based on existing prehabilitation needs and these needs must begin to be addressed while the treatment plan is being set up.
- 3. Ensure that additional and regular follow ups are carried out, assessing potential new needs and adjusting rehabilitation services accordingly.
- 4. Adopt a comprehensive view of the individual, including considerations of the physical, psychosocial and spiritual aspects that the cancer diagnosis and treatment may affect.
- 5. Adopt a multidisciplinary and multimodal approach to rehabilitation, tailored to individual needs. Teamwork and a collaborative approach are essential, therefore, include several disciplines and medical approaches represented in rehabilitative services.
- 6. When accompanying patients along the survivorship journey, empower patients to take control of their rehabilitation and support them in addressing issues related to intimacy, fertility, employment and/or returning to work.
- 7. Continuously evaluate the progress made by patients in their rehabilitation journey.

Despite health care policy, organisation and delivery being a national competence of national governments, **several instruments are available at EU level to strengthen cancer rehabilitation programmes across the Union**.

Cancer leagues recommend EU decision-makers to **put rehabilitation services under the spotlight of efforts aimed at strengthening national healthcare systems, achieving a better integration between health, social care and long-term care, and moving towards a more person-centered care**. The benefits of a greater focus on rehabilitation services would extend beyond cancer care to non-communicable diseases more broadly, being especially significant in the context of an aging European population and of improved treatment outcomes for a wide array of conditions. Cancer leagues welcome the Europe's Beating Cancer Plan (EBCP)'s recognition of the importance of ensuring that cancer patients have the highest possible quality of life throughout the disease pathway and beyond. In particular, we appreciate the Plan's comprehensive approach to patients' physical, social, and psychological rehabilitation recognising the importance of patients' centricity in follow-up care. The EBCP's quality of life pillar should be strengthened, through a greater focus on cancer survivorship in the Horizon Europe's Mission on Cancer and the EU4Health programme. The current status and best way forward for supportive care and comprehensive rehabilitation programmes should be explored in parallel to the ongoing development of quality of life indicators and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (34) and as a key tenet of the 2023 Flagship Technical Support Project 'Towards person-centred integrated care'.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EU POLICYMAKERS

 Under relevant funding frameworks - notably, the EU4Health Programme (2021-2027) and Horizon Europe, launch a call for proposals for action grants in support of research projects aimed at collecting standardised data on rehabilitation services (including accessibility, affordability, availability, quality and inequalities in cancer rehabilitation services) across the EU.

Stratified, standardised data on availability, access to and effectiveness of cancer rehabilitation programmes should be collected in a harmonised and detailed manner across Member States. In the long term, cancer leagues recommend setting up a data collection framework on cancer rehabilitation that aligns with the Data Quality Criteria set for the European Cancer Inequalities Registry (ECIR). This data could then feed into the Registry, creating a strong evidence-base to guide future action tackling inequalities in cancer survivorship (i.e., shaping measures allowing the effective inclusion and retention of low-income patients in rehabilitation services).

- ii) Commission a study related to cancer rehabilitation and survivorship care, mapping national and regional initiatives and policies, and identifying obstacles and challenges for setting up comprehensive cancer rehabilitation, overseen by the European Commission's General Directorate for Health and Food Safety (DG SANTE) and the European Health and Digital Executive Agency (HaDEA).
- iii) Set up a Joint Action or launch a call for proposals for action grants under the EU4Health Programme, in support of a study aimed at collecting existing best practices in rehabilitation services for cancer (and NCDs), to complement the efforts of the 2023 flagship project on integrated care.
- iv) In the context of EU-level action to strengthen the healthcare workforce, devise curricula for inter-specialty training in cancer rehabilitation as part of Innovative Collaboration for Inter-specialty Cancer Training across Europe - INTERACT-EUROPE.
- v) Provide sustainable funding to Member States in order to meet the ambitious goals within the EBCP's Quality of Life pillar. Funding should be directed towards building or strengthening rehabilitation capacity, including infrastructural, human and monitoring capacity. Once gaps and best practices are identified, financing could be secured through several available mechanisms available, including the European Structural and Investment Funds and public-private partnerships financed by the European Investment Bank.



- 1) European Cancer Information System ECIS. <u>https://ecis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/index.php</u> (Last accessed 1/11/2022)
- 2) Hofmarcher, T., et al. (2019). Report on Cancer in Europe 2019 Disease Burden, Costs and Access to Medicines. IHE Report. Available at: <u>https://www.efpia.eu/media/580501/comparator-report-on-cancer.pdf</u>
- Mitchell, A.J., et al. (2011). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorder in oncological, haematological, and palliative-care settings: a meta-analysis of 94 interview-based studies. Lancet Oncology, 12(2),160-74. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21251875/
- 4) Jacobs, L.A., Shulman L.N. (2017). Follow-up care of cancer survivors: challenges and solutions. Lancet Oncology, 18: e19–29. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28049574/
- 5) Cancer Control Joint Action (CanCon, 2017). European Guide on Quality Improvement in Comprehensive Cancer Control. Available at: <u>https://cancercontrol.eu/archived/guide-landing-page.html</u>.
- 6) World Health Organisation (WHO, 2019). Rehabilitation fact sheet. Available at: https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rehabilitation
- 7) European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO, 2014). ESMO handbook on rehabilitation issues during cancer treatment and follow-up.
- 8) Ghiggia, A., et al. (2017). Psychological distress and coping in nasopharyngeal cancer: an explorative study in Western Europe. Psychology, health & medicine, 22(4), 449–461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2016.1220600</u>
- 9) Broberger, E., et al. (2005). Discrepancies and similarities in how patients with lung cancer and their professional and family caregivers assess symptom occurrence and symptom distress. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 29(6), 572–583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2004.11.006
- 10) Meggiolaro, E., et al. (2016). Cancer patients' emotional distress, coping styles and perception of doctor-patient interaction in European cancer settings. Palliative & supportive care, 14(3), 204–211. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1478951515000760
- 11) Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKN, 2017). Cancer rehabilitation Nation-wide guideline, Version: 2.0, Oncoline, Holland. Available at <u>https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/gerelateerde_documenten/f/17074/Cancer%20</u> rehabilitation%20EN.pdf (Last accessed 1/11/2022).
- 12) Stamp, E., et al (2022). Collection of cancer Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMS) to link with primary and secondary electronic care records to understand and improve long term cancer outcomes: A protocol paper. PloS one, 17(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0266804
- Kudre, D., et al. (2020). Multidisciplinary Outpatient Cancer Rehabilitation Can Improve Cancer Patients' Physical and Psychosocial Status-a Systematic Review. Current oncology reports, 22(12), 122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11912-020-00979-8</u>
- 14) Papadakos, J. K., et al. (2018). Health literacy and cancer self-management behaviors: A scoping review. Cancer, 124(21), 4202–4210. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31733
- 15) Holden, C. E., et al. (2021). The role of health literacy in cancer care: A mixed studies systematic review. PloS one, 16(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0259815</u>
- 16) Mugele, H., et al. (2019). High-intensity interval training in the therapy and aftercare of cancer patients: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice, 13(2), 205–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-019-00743-3</u>

- 17) Tsuji, K., et al. (2019). Effect of home-based high-intensity interval training and behavioural modification using information and communication technology on cardiorespiratory fitness and exercise habits among sedentary breast cancer survivors: habit-B study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. BMJ open, 9(8), e030911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030911</u>
- 18) Tsuji, K., et al. (2021). High-intensity interval training in breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. BMC Cancer 21, 184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-021-07804-w</u>
- 19) Lavín-Pérez, A.M., et al. (2021). Effects of high-intensity training on the quality of life of cancer patients and survivors: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Sci Rep 11, 15089. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-021-94476-y
- 20) Stout, N. L., et al. (2021). A systematic review of rehabilitation and exercise recommendations in oncology guidelines. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 71(2), 149–175. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21639
- 21) Fabi, A., et al. (2020). Cancer-related fatigue: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis and treatment. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 31(6), 713–723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annonc.2020.02.016</u>
- 22) Horneber, M., et al. (2012). How many cancer patients use complementary and alternative medicine: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Integrative cancer therapies, 11(3), 187–203. https://doi. org/10.1177/1534735411423920
- 23) Witt, C. M., et al. (2017). A Comprehensive Definition for Integrative Oncology. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. Monographs, 2017(52), 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgx012. https://doi.org/10.1093/jncimonographs/lgx012
- 24) Grant, S. J., et al. (2019). Integrative Oncology: International Perspectives. Integrative cancer therapies, 18, 1534735418823266. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534735418823266
- 25) Greenlee, H., et al (2017). Clinical practice guidelines on the evidence-based use of integrative therapies during and after breast cancer treatment. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 67(3):194-232.
- 26) Braspenning, I. et al. (2018). Rehabilitation and return to work after cancer instruments and practices. European Risk Observatory Report, EU-OSHA. Available at: <u>https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/</u> rehabilitation-and-return-work-after-cancer-instruments-and-practices
- 27) Association of European Cancer Leagues (ECL, 2020). Cancer and Sex Everything oncology professionals should discuss with their patients but maybe were afraid to start. Available at: <u>https://www.cancer.eu/wp-content/uploads/ECL-Cancer-and-Sexuality-Leaflet-HCP_September-2020.pdf</u> (Last accessed 1/11/2022).
- 28) Osservatorio sulla condizione assistenziale dei malati oncologici (FAVO, 2020). La riabilitazione in oncologia: ri-abilitazione alla vita. Il volontariato oncologico e la riabilitazione, il perché di una carta dei diritti. Available at: <u>https://osservatorio.favo.it/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/R11.Cap13.pdf</u> (Last accessed 1/11/2022).
- 29) Dehler, A., et al. (2021). Outpatient multidisciplinary cancer rehabilitation in Switzerland: a status assessment. Journal of Public Health. 10.1007/s10389-021-01589-9.
- 30) Holm, L. V., et al. (2013). Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation: a population-based cohort study. Acta oncologica (Stockholm, Sweden), 52(2), 410–422. https://doi.org/10.3109/0284186X.2012.745014
- 31) Holm, L. V., et al. (2012). Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer, 20(11), 2913–2924. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-012-1420-0
- 32) Association of European Cancer Leagues (ECL, 2021). Rehabilitation Atlas an Inventory of Cancer Rehabilitation Programmes and Activities Used by Cancer Leagues Across Europe. Available at: <u>https://www.cancer.eu/ecl-rehabilitation-atlas-2021/</u> (Last accessed 1/11/2022).
- 33) Adamsen, L., et al. (2009). Effect of a multimodal high intensity exercise intervention in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy: randomised controlled trial. BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 339, b3410. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.b3410
- 34) European Commission. HORIZON-MISS-2021-CANCER-02-02



Association of European Cancer Leagues (ECL) Chaussée de Louvain 479, 1030 Brussels

EU Transparency Register Number: 19265592757-25

Published in Brussels on January 2023 by ECL. Any reproduction in full or in parts must mention the title and credit.